EMT imparts cancer stemness and plasticity: new perspectives and therapeutic potential

Sayoni Roy^{1,2}, Raghava R Sunkara^{1,2}, Manan Y Parmar¹, Saima Shaikh¹, Sanjeev K Waghmare^{1,2}

¹Stem Cell Biology Group, Waghmare Lab, Cancer Research Institute, Advanced Centre for Treatment Research and Education in Cancer (ACTREC), Tata Memorial Centre, Kharghar, Navi Mumbai 410210, Maharashtra, India, ²Homi Bhabha National Institute, Training School Complex, Anushakti Nagar, Mumbai 400085, India

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition: Molecular and structural changes during the process
 - 3.1. EMT in development
 - 3.2. Transcriptional regulation of EMT: EMT-TFs as master regulators
 - 3.3. EMT and CTCs in cancer: A starting point for invasion and metastasis
- 4. EMT, cellular plasticity and metastasis: an intermediate state is the key
- 5. EMT and cancer stemness
 - 5.1. Overview of cancer stem cells
 - 5.2. Plasticity and reversibility of normal and CSC
 - 5.3. EMT and CSCs: Two sides of the same coin
- 6. Regulation of EMT by cell signaling
 - 6.1. Wnt signaling and EMT
 - 6.2. TGF- β signaling and EMT
 - 6.3. Notch signaling and EMT
- 7. Current status and therapeutic potential
- 8. Perspectives
- 9. Acknowledgments
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a fundamental cellular phenomenon that plays an intrinsic role in development, tissue repair, and cancer progression. EMT is tightly regulated by transcription factors that alter gene expression to promote epithelial to mesenchymal phenotype. EMT is also regulated by a diverse array of cytokines and growth factors whose activities are deregulated during malignancy. EMT enables tumor cells to exist in various intermediate states along the epithelialmesenchymal phenotypic axis that transit from cancer stem cells (CSCs) to circulating tumor cells (CTCs). Recent studies have revealed the importance of CSCs in tumor promotion, invasion and metastasis. The relapsed tumors encompass CSCs which are resistant to radiotherapy and chemotherapy. In this review, we have summarized our current understanding of the molecular mechanisms that regulate EMT induced CSC phenotype. We have highlighted studies implicating the function of TGF- β , Wnt, and Notch regulated non-coding RNAs in driving EMT promoting CSC self-renewal. Finally, we discuss how the EMT and CSCs cause drug resistance with the hope to overcome

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in CSCs and CTCs



Figure 1. Tumor progression with increase in EMTTFs. Deregulation in the cell cycle check points and signaling pathways that regulate proliferation/differentiation in the cells of the normal epithelium leads to tumor initiation. These initiated cells proliferate uncontrollably and then undergo EMT transition where they lose their epithelial phenotype and attain mesenchymal phenotype with increase in EMT-TFs such as SNAIL, SLUG, TWIST1/2 and ZEB1/2. (EMT: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition; TF's: Transcription factors).

such resistance as a possible approach for cancer treatment.

2. INTRODUCTION

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition is a cellular phenomenon that allows a stationary polarized epithelial cell to undergo various morphological changes to assume a migratory, invasive mesenchymal cell phenotype. The initial observation that epithelial cells lose their epithelial characteristics and adopt mesenchymal characteristics was made by Dr. Elizabeth Hay in 1980, who observed epithelial to mesenchymal phenotypic changes in the primitive streak of chick embryos (1). The process now known as epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is an intrinsic cellular phenomenon reminiscent of embryonic development and tissue repair, which occurs also during diverse disease processes including cancer invasion, organ fibrosis (2). EMT is orchestrated by a group of EMT transcription factors (EMT-TFs) belonging to SNAIL, TWIST and ZEB families. The activation of EMT-TFs occurs in response to various signaling pathways such as Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF- β), Wnt and Notch. These extracellular signals activate the intracellular kinase cascades which ultimately induce the expression of EMT-TFs. EMT and mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) which involves the conversion of mesenchymal cells to epithelial cells are consistent with the idea of cell plasticity. Cancer metastasis is driven by EMT mainly by conversion of cancer cells to CSCs, which are capable of traversing tissue boundaries, entering into the blood vessels,

localizing and growing in other tissues to form metastatic foci. Therefore, collectively targeting CSCs and cells with activated EMT signaling may provide possible treatment options for cancers that become resistance to the available treatment strategies. In this review, we particularly focus on EMT, plasticity, CTCs, cancer stemness with an emphasis on the the role of cellular signaling in development of EMT in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) and breast cancers (BC).

3. EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION: MOLECULAR AND STRUCTURAL CHANGES DURING THE PROCESS

Epithelial and mesenchymal cells vary from each other in many aspects. Epithelial cells form an organized layer of cells that are closely adjoined by specialized membrane structures such as tight junctions, gap junctions, communication junctions, adherens junctions, and desmosomes. Epithelial cells exhibit an apical-basal polarity, while mesenchymal cells do not form an organized cell layer and exhibit a front-back end polarity. EMT involves a series of events during which epithelial cells lose their epithelial characteristics and mesenchymal adopt characteristics (2). The core changes that occur during EMT are the reduction in E-cadherin (CDH1) expression that disrupts cell-cell adhesion (3), loss of apico-basolateral polarity, reorganization of the cytoskeleton resulting in the formation of migratory mesenchymal cells with invasive properties (Figure 1).

The downregulation of CDH1 is accompanied by reorganization of desmosomal proteins (plakoglobin, desmogleins, and desmoplakins), tight junction proteins and cell polarity proteins. Consequently, there is an increase in expression of mesenchymal markers such as neural cadherin (N-cadherin), vimentin, integrins, fibronectin, and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) allowing cells to detach from each other and penetrate the basement membrane (4-6). Hitherto, it was believed that the EMT transition occurs completely. However, EMT is not a complete process, where cells exhibit both epithelial and mesenchymal characteristics along a gradient of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (7).

EMTs can be classified into three different biological subtypes based on the biological context in which they occur (8, 9). Type-1 EMT occurs during embryogenesis that gives rise to the mesoderm, endoderm, and mobile neural crest cells. Type-2 EMT takes place during wound healing, tissue regeneration, and organ fibrosiswhereas Type-3 EMT is associated with cancer progression which is a key event in the cancer invasion and metastasis.

3.1. EMT in development

The role of EMT and its reverse process, mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET), has been extensively studied in a variety of tissue remodeling events, such as mesoderm formation, neural crest development, heart valve development, secondary palate formation etc. Mesoderm formation and neural crest development occur during early embryonic development, whereas heart valve development and secondary palate formation occur in relatively welldifferentiated epithelial cells, which later become defined mesenchymal cell types. The primary mesenchyme is formed from the upper epiblast epithelium (1). The second wave of EMT occurs during the formation of neural crest cells, which further migrate to form the peripheral nervous system (10). Furthermore, the dorsal part of the somite undergoes EMT to give rise to muscle and connective tissue of dermal layers of the skin (12, 13). EMT-like changes also occur during palatal formation that separates the nasal and oral cavities. In aduts, EMT regulate placental formation and production of fibroblast during inflammation and wound healing (14,15,16). During wound healing, non-motile epithelial cells undergo EMT that enable them to migrate to a wound site followed by proliferation. Further, these mesenchymal cells revert to the epithelial state via MET involving a process known as re- epithelialization (17).

3.2. Transcriptional regulation of EMT: EMT-TFs as master regulators

EMT-TFs tightly regulate the complex process of EMT that comrprises of zinc-finger proteins such as SNAILs (SNAI1, SNAI2/SLUG, SNAI3/SMUC), the E-box-binding proteins ZEBs (ZEB1/TCF8 and ZEB2/SIP1), the basic helixloop-helix protein TWISTs (TWIST1 and TWIST2), the fork-head box proteins FOXCs and (FOXC1and FOXC2). EMT-TFs in co-oepration with other TFs regulate the expression of target genes either by functioning as repressors of epithelial genes or inducers of mesenchymal genes (18, 19). For instance, SNAIL induces expression of other EMT-TFs such as SLUG, ZEB1, and TWIST1. Moreover, SNAIL, SLUG and ZEB1 regulate the expression of another EMT -TF TCF3 (20, 21). On the other hand, extracellular signals such as TGF- β , epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), Wnt and ECM components activate, one or more of these EMT-TFs to induce EMT events (22). EMT-TFs are further regulated by non-coding microRNAs (miRNAs). The bestcharacterized miRNA regulating EMT are the members of miR-200 family, which downregulate ZEB1 and ZEB2. Further, miR-34 family attenuates the expression of SNAIL. The expression of miR-200 and miR-34 are in turn repressed by ZEB1/ZEB2 and SNAIL respectively implying the presence of double-negative feedback loops between EMT and miRNA (23-26). EMT-TFs such as SNAIL, SLUG, TWIST, ZEB1, and ZEB2 also suppress the expression of E-cadherin, which is considered as a hallmark in EMT (4).

EMT-TFs can be divided into two groups based on the mechanism by which they downregulate the expression of E-cadherin. The first group comprises SNAIL, SLUG, ZEB1, ZEB2, E47, KLF8, and Brachyury that directly interact with the Ecadherin gene promoter to suppress its expression. For instance, SNAI1 repress the transcription of E-



Figure 2. EMT and MET in cancer metastasis. Within the CSCs, induction of EMT leads to the expression of EMT- inducing transcription factors (EMT- TFs) ZEB, SNAIL, SLUG, and TWIST, which inhibit the expression of genes associated with the epithelial state and concomitantly activate the expression of genes associated with the mesenchymal state. During EMT, the cancer cells become motile and acquire invasive capacities. They secrete matrix metalloproteases that help in intravasation. The cells then undergo systemic dissemination and reach secondary tumor sites where they undergo mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET). EMT is a reversible process and mesenchymal cells can revert to the epithelial state by undergoing MET. These cancer cells then colonize and form tumors similar to that of parent tumors at the secondary tumor site. EMT: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition; TF's: Transcription factors; CTC: Circulating tumor cells; CSCs: cancer stem cells; MET: mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition.

cadherin by binding to the E-box region on the Ecadherin promoters followed by recruiting histone modifiers such as HDAC1 & HDAC2 (mSIN3Ahistone deacetylase 1 and 2), PRC2 (polycomb repressive complex 2) and LSD1 (lysine-specific demethylase1).The second group comprises TWIST1, FOXC2, Goosecoid, E2-2, SIX1 and PrRRX1 that induce EMT without directly binding to the E-cadherin gene promoter. TWIST1 upregulates the PRC1 component BMI1 and acts cooperatively with BMI1 to repress E-cadherin expression (22, 27-29).

EMT-TFs also down-regulate claudin, occludin, desmoplakin, and plakophilin proteins, which are essential for the maintenance of tight junctions or desmosomes in epithelial cells (4). Conversely, EMT-TFs activate mesenchymeassociated genes such as N-cadherin, fibronectin, and vimentin. SNAIL and ZEB2 also activate matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) expression facilitating the degradation of the basement membrane and promoting cell invasion. Recent studies have revealed the importance of other TFs such as HMGA2, Goosecoid, KLF8, FOXC2, SIX1, Brachyury, PIT-1, E47, E2-2, ZEPPO, GATA3, and PRRX1 during EMT (30).

3.3. EMT and CTCs in cancer: A starting point for invasion and metastasis

Lappin and colleagues stated that "The poetic rhythm of the developmental program does not appear to resonate with the same harmony in the adult form" and EMT in pathological conditions is not an exception. Pathological EMT involves the same genetic and molecular players involved during development; however, they lack the intricate coordination. Induction of EMT in epithelial tumor cells results in disruption of intercellular junctions, such as E-cadherin, claudins, occludins, desmosomes and acquisition of mesenchymal markers such as α -SMA, FSP1, vimentin, and desmin (31). These cells eventually enter into subsequent steps of the invasionmetastasis cascade, i.e., intravasation, transport through the circulation, extravasation, formation of micro-metastases ultimately leading to colonization (Figure 2) (32).

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in CSCs and CTCs

During intravasation, tumor cells detach from the tumor site, invade the walls of the blood vessel and enter into the blood stream, which are termed as circulating tumor cells (CTCs). Recent evidence suggests that the presence of CTCs with mesenchymal characteristics is associated with tumor dissemination and metastasis (34). Further, detection of CTCs in epithelial cancers such as breast cancer and HNSSC is considered as a bloodbased biomarker for poor prognosis. CTCs are capable of re-seeding at the primary site suggesting their role in local tumor recurrence (33). Moreover, during extravasation, metastasizing CTCs shed their mesenchymal phenotype via a MET in the course of secondary tumor formation.

Initiation of tumor growth at the secondary site is the rate-limiting step in metastasis. Therefore, a key feature of a successful metastatic cell is cellular plasticity i.e., the ability to undergo EMT and subsequently transit to MET in the appropriate microenvironments.

4. EMT, CELLULAR PLASTICITY AND METASTASIS: AN INTERMEDIATE STATE IS THE KEY

EMT was initially thought to be a process in which epithelial cells transform completely to mesenchymal cells with a loss of E-cadherin (epithelial marker) expression and again of N-(mesenchymal cadherin expression marker). However, recent studies have revealed that during EMT, cancer cells simply do not switch from epithelial-to-mesenchymal state but rather they exist in a plethora of intermediate cellular phenotypes, which depend on the regulation of specific genetic programs and the tumor microenvironment (35). An intermediate state between epithelial and complete mesenchymal states is known as partial/hybrid EMT state. During partial EMT, cancer cells acquire mesench ymal traits that enable them to depart from the primary tumor site and survive in the circulation. Subsequently, these cells revert to the epithelial state during metastatic colonization and development of secondary tumors. For instance, the sub-population of CTCs in breast cancer patients showed biphenotypic E+/M+ state with clear epithelial histology, both in the primary tumors and draining

lymph nodes (36). Further, single-cell transcriptomics in HNSCC showed partial EMT as an independent predictor for the following such as nodal metastasis, grade, and adverse pathologic features. Cancer cells exhibiting partial EMT were spatially localized at the leading edge of the tumor (37).

Tumor cells with hybrid epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes were more efficient in reaching the circulation, colonizing the lungs and forming metastases (38). A hybrid EMT phenotype observed in ovarian cancer was associated with increased cancer cell stemness, whereas complete epithelial or complete mesenchymal phenotype was associated with both decreased stemness and tumorigenicity (39). Moreover, co-expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers in other human cancers including colorectal, lung, and pancreatic cancers have been associated with poor survival with resistance to therapy (39).

Cancer cells that exhibit a degree of phenotypic plasticity and undergo the reverse process of the EMT i.e. MET), are more efficient at seeding metastases (Figure 2). Complete loss or forced overexpression of EMTTFs, such as ZEB1, TWIST and SNAIL leads to complete epithelial or mesenchymal phenotype, which is unfavorable for metastasis and CSC maintenance. Constitutive activation of TWIST1in human mammary epithelial cells (HMECs) transformed cells to a migratory and non-proliferative state whereas its transient activation enabled long-term invasive growth due to the coexistence of epithelial and mesenchymal traits (28).

5. EMT AND CANCER STEMNESS

Several reports showed higher levels of EMT markers in the tumor cells not only promote tumor invasion and metastasis to a distant site but also contribute to tumor relapse by virtue of their relative resistance to chemotherapy and radiation (5). These cells acquire stem-like characteristics, which serve as critical drivers of tumor progression that are termed as cancer stem cells (CSCs) (40). CSCs lie at the apex of tumor cell hierarchy capable of selfrenewal and giving rise to various differentiated cell types (41). Tumor initiation and relapse are strongly linked with the biology of CSCs (40). Here, we focus on the link between EMT and cancer stemness.

5.1. Overview of cancer stem cells

Adult stem cells (SCs) have the remarkable capacity to self-renew and differentiate into various cell lineages to either maintain normal tissue homeostasis or repair the injured tissue SCs give rise to transit-amplifying (TA) cell populations, which terminally differentiate after several rounds of divisions, which are eventually lost from the tissue (42). Dick and colleagues reported cancer cells expressing stem cell markers (CD34+/CD38-/Lin-), which showed self-renewal property similar to normal stem cells, which are termed as leukemic SCs (LSCs).LSCs express similar genes as those expressed by Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HSCs), suggesting that LSCs are regulated by similar molecular mechanisms as those of normal stem cells (43-45). Similarly, in solid tumors, it was first demonstrated in breast cancer that only a fraction of cancer cells (CD44⁺/CD24^{-//ow}) have a higher ability to generate tumors upon transplantation into immune-deficient mice (46). In addition, cancer cells expressing aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH1) possess tumor-initiating capacity (47). Tumor cells simultaneously expressing both CSC markers (i.e., CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} and ALDH1⁺) displayed higher tumorigenic potential as compared to cells expressing either CD44+CD24-/low only or ALDH1+ only (47). Subsequently, CD44, CD24, and ALDH were used to isolate CSCs from a wide variety of cancers, including those of the HNSSC (48), pancreas (49), colon (50), lung (51), ovary (52) and prostate gland.

5.2. Plasticity and reversibility of normal and CSC

A certain degree of plasticity exists within the progenitors or differentiated cells that enable them to form an SC-like state. For instance, upon ablation of airway epithelial stem cells, fully committed secretary cells de-differentiated into functional epithelial stem cells (53). Similarly, ablation of Lgr5 positive intestinal SCs using mice expressing diphtheria toxin receptors in Lgr5 cells resulted in the dedifferentiation of progenitors into an

SC-like state, making them capable of sustaining intestinal homeostasis. This suggests that there exists an alternative cellular mechanism by which tissues can regenerate even after stem cell loss (54). This plasticity of normal progenitor/committed cells appears to be reflected in cancer cells where non-CSCs can convert into CSCs under certain conditions. For instance in melanoma, histone H3 lysine-4 (H3K4) demethylase, JARID1B positive population are considered to be CSCs due to their slow-cycling nature and high tumorigenic potential. Nevertheless, Jarid1b-negative melanoma cell can be tumorigenic and re-express Jarid1b upon transplantation implying the conversion of non-CSCs into CSCs (55). Furthermore, induction of a core set of transcription factors (TFs) such as POU3F2, SOX2, SALL2, and OLIG2 in fully differentiated glioblastoma cells (56) and OCT3/4, SOX2 and KLF4 in human colon cancer cells (57) was sufficient to reprogram these differentiated cells into CSCs. Additionally, the plasticity of non-CSCs of human basal breast cancers enabled them to switch from a non-CSC to CSC state. The observed cell plasticity was dependent on ZEB1, whose promoter is maintained in a bivalent chromatin configuration. Upon TGF- β stimulation, the ZEB1 promoter converted from a bivalent to active chromatin configuration. As a result, ZEB1 transcription increased, fueling the conversion of non-CSCs to CSCs (58). Therefore, the plasticity of CSCs and non-CSCs should be an important determinant while developing treatment modalities.

5.3. EMT and CSCs: Two Sides Of The Same Coin

A striking similarity between the geneexpression profiles of cells undergoing EMT and stem cells suggests a close connection between EMT and stemness of CSCs. The link between EMT and cancer stemness was first shown in the differentiated mammary epithelial cells that gave rise to CD44^{high}/CD24^{low} cells upon TGF- β treatment or forced expression of E-cadherin transcriptional repressor, SNAI1 (59). EMT-associated factors such as TWIST1/2, FOXC2, SNAI1, ZEB2, VIM and FN1 were expressed at higher levels in CD44⁺/CD24^{-/ow} as compared to more differentiated epithelial CD44⁻/CD24⁺ cells. Furthermore, breast cancer cells disseminated in the circulation and bone marrow were enriched for the CD44⁺/CD24⁻ antigen subset. EMT-TF's such as SNAIL, SLUG and TWIST etc. were responsible for the generation and maintenance of CSCs in many other tumor types, including colorectal (60), hepatocellular carcinoma (61), ovarian (62), etc. In HNSCC, the expression of EMT-TFs was increased in CSCs thereby suggesting EMT-TFs as the common factor for metastasis and stemness of cancer cells. Moreover, many studies found a positive correlation between stem-cell like phenotype and metastatic potential of cancer cells. CD271, a stem-cell marker, was associated with higher SNAI2/SLUG expression. Moreover, the higher invasive and metastatic phenotype was also observed in CD271-expressing cell lines, patientderived xenografts and primary human HNSCC (63). In a study examining different grades of human oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma (OSCC) samples showed higher CD44 that was concomitant with elevated expression of Vimentin and VE-cadherin in higher grade carcinoma indicating a functional relationship between cancer stem cells and metastasis (64).

In an early-stage OSCC, tumors with higher expression of stem cell markers such as CD133, NANOG, and NOTCH-1 showed an invasive phenotype with metastatic potential (65). Furthermore, CD44+/CD45-/CD31- cells isolated primary OSCC showed a marked from downregulation in cell adhesion genes such as PCDH18, MGP, SPARCL1 and KRTDAP as compared to non-stem cells (66). These studies point to the fact that CSCs exhibit a mesenchymal phenotype and a greater metastatic potential. The downregulation of MMPs in OSCC cell lines led to a subsequent reduction in stem-cell markers such as ABCG2 and CD44, indicating that inhibition of metastasis-aggravating molecules impacts the stemness of tumor cells (67). AF4/FMR2 family member 4 (AFF4), a core component of SEC (Super elongation complex), increased ALDH1 and also enhanced the migration and invasion capability of HNSCC cell lines. Moreover, immunehistochemical analysis of OSCC tissue samples concluded that stem-cell markers ALDH1 and ABCG2 were higher in the aggressive and metastatic tumor (68).

miRNAs play a crucial role in regulating EMT induced cancer stemness. The evolutionary conserved miR-200 is the most widely studied miR in the regulation of EMT and stemness. It has been associated with stem-like cell signatures by regulating the expression of BMI1, NOTCH1 and LIN28B expression (69-71). miR-200c inhibited the clonal expansion of breast cancer cells and suppressed the growth of embryonal carcinoma cells in vitro. In addition, it inhibited the ability of normal mammary stem cells to form mammary ducts as well as tumor formation by human BCSCs in vivo. Three miR clusters, miR-200c-141, miR-200b-200a-429, and miR-183-96-182 were also down regulated in human mammary stem cells and human BCSCs and embryonal carcinoma cells (70). During EMT induction, OSCC cells switch from CD44 variant (CD44v) to CD44 standard form (CD44s) by suppressing miR-220c, which in turn increases the availability of ZEB1 to repress E-Cadherin expression (72).

These studies bolster the fact that stemness and metastatic properties of a tumor are indeed intricately linked and CSCs emerge as the major player contributing to the process of EMT. Moreover, induction of EMT in tumor cells not only promotes stemness properties, tumor cell invasion and metastasis but also contributes to drug resistance. Therefore, an increase in our mechanistic understanding of the EMT–CSC link will allow the development of newer therapies for eradication of tumors to improve the overall survival of patients that have been diagnosed with cancers. Thus, targeting the EMT to eliminate CSCs offers a promising avenue for the improvement of cancer therapy.

6. REGULATION OF EMT BY CELL SIGNALING

EMT is fundamental to both embryogenesis and tumor metastasis. EMT is activated by major signaling pathways such as Wnt, TGF- β , and Notch, etc. The binding of ligands to their associated receptors expressed by normal and neoplastic epithelial cells triggers a cascade of intracellular signaling events that culminate in activating the EMT



Figure 3. Signaling pathways that activate EMT and their regulation by miRs. Multiple cell-intrinsic signaling pathways cooperate to induce the expression of EMT TFs such as ZEB, SNAIL, SLUG and TWIST that induce the transition to the epithelial cell state to mesenchymal cell state. Canonical WNT pathway is activated upon binding of canonical WNT ligands to the Frizzled family of membrane receptors. This leads to the release of β - catenin from the destruction complex. β- Catenin then translocate to the nucleus, where it binds to the transcription factors TCF (T cell factor) and LEF (lymphoid enhancer- binding factor) to activate genes that drive EMT. Micro RNAs such as miR-329, miR-16 and miR-410 down regulate WNT signaling thereby regulating EMT in HNSCC whereas miR-1 and miR-100 target Wnt signaling to inhibit EMT in breast cancer. The Notch pathway is activated upon binding of the Deltalike or Jagged family of ligands to the Notch receptor. This binding activates y-secretase which cleaves Notch to form NICD, which enters the nucleus to function as a transcriptional coactivator.miR34a, miR-1179, miR-200, miR- 9 and miR-34c are some of the miRs that target Notch to inhibit breast cancer invasiveness. Binding of the TGF-ß proteins to the TGF-ß family of receptors leads to receptor phosphorylation and activation of SMAD 2/3 or 1/5 which forms complexes with Smad4 and enters into the nucleus and then activates the EMT program. miR190 targets TGFβ signaling and inhibits breast cancer metastasis. EMT: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition; TF's: Transcription factors; CTC: Circulating tumor cells; CSCs: cancer stem cells; miRs: microRNA; HNSCC: Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma.

program. Here, we discuss some of the major signaling events that are mainly involved in EMT of HNSCC and breast cancer.

6.1. Wnt Signaling and EMT

Wnt-β-catenin signaling pathway is an evolutionarily conserved pathway involved in early embryonic development, self-renewal, tissue homeostasis and tumorigenesis. Wnt signaling is

mediated by Wnt ligands (19 Wnt ligands) and their associated Wnt frizzled receptors (10 Fzd receptors) and Wnt inhibitors (families of Sfrps, Dkks and Wif1) (Figure 3) (73, 74). During embryonic development, Wnt3 is essential for the formation of the primitive streak, which is required for the formation of an anterior-posterior neural pattern (75). Additionally, Wnt-11 and Frizzled-7 (Non-canonical Wnt signaling) are crucial for the migration of neural crest cells (76). For instance, Sfrp1, a natural Wnt antagonist, is down regulated in various human cancers due to promoter hypermethylation such as breast cancer, oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC), lung cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), etc (145,146,147,148) Recently, our laboratory showed that CSCs of Sfrp1^{-/-} murine skin SCC showed an upregulation of EMT markers such as Twist1, Twist2, Snail, Vimentin, Zeb1 and Sox2, stem cell marker. Further, these data was validated in human HNSCC and breast cancer tumor samples, which showed decreased Sfrp1 while increased Sox2 expression thereby establishing an inverse correlation, with overall poor survival (149). Further, Wnt signaling is required for the proliferation and migration of epidermal stem cells during the wound repair process (77, 78).

In HNSCC, Wnt ligands and its regulators were reported to enhance tumor cell migration and invasion. In HNSCC, Wnt-5b overexpression enhanced invasion and migration of tumor cells by regulating MMP10 expression through MEF2A (79, 80). Further, a decrease in inhibitory Wnt-7a and an increase in Wnt-5a/fzd5 expression resulted in overall poor survival of HNSCC patients (81). Additionally, Wnt signaling also inhibited anoikis and increased cell invasion in HNSCC. Conversely, higher expression of Dickkopf protein-3 (DKK3) in HNSCC patients showed a high metastatic rate and overall poor survival (82). MicroRNAs also play a pivotal role in regulating WNT signaling either activating or inhibiting EMT. miR-21 downregulates DKK2, Wnt antagonist, there-by activating invasion in OSCC cells (83). Conversely, higher expression of miR329 and miR410 down-regulated WNT-7B that is involved in activating proliferation and invasion of OSCC (84). Additionally, overexpression of miR-16 inhibited OSCC growth by inhibiting Wnt-β-catenin signaling (85).

During breast cancer metastasis, canonical Wnt signaling helps the cancer cells to stay in an epithelial/mesenchymal (E/M) hybrid state by differential expression of EMT-inducing transcription factors (86). Wnt-Axin2-Gsk3ß cascade regulates SNAI1 activity there-by regulating EMT in breast cancer (87). Further, Wnt-3 over-expression confers EMT like properties and trastuzumab resistance to Her-2 overexpressing breast cancer cells (88). Moreover, miR-374a targets negative regulators of Wnt signaling such as WIF1, PTEN, and WNT5A, thereby activating Wnt signaling and distant metastasis in breast cancer patients (89). Furthermore, active miR-1 down-regulated breast CSC stemness, proliferation, and migration by inhibiting the Wnt/β-catenin signaling through regulation of FZD-7 and Tankyrase-2 (TNKS2) (90). miR-100 suppressed migration and invasion of MDA-MB-231 cells by targeting WNT8 and inhibiting Wnt β-catenin pathway (91). Additionally, long non-coding RNAs, IncRNA-UCA1 enhanced EMT in MDA- MB-231 cells by targeting GSK-3β and activating Wnt pathway (92).

6.2. TGF-β Signaling and EMT

TGF- β signaling plays an instrumental role during early development as well as during cancer metastasis. TGF- β signaling is mediated by type I and type II receptor serine/threonine kinases. Once the ligand binds to the type II receptor, it transphosphorylates the type I receptor, which then phosphorylates cytoplasmic Smad2/Smad3 or Smad1/Smad5 based on the type of ligand. Subsequently, activated Smad2/3 or Smad1/5 form complexes with Smad4 and then enter into the nucleus, which binds to chromatin and regulates expression of genes that play critical roles in the control of cell proliferation, differentiation (including EMT), apoptosis and cell migration (Figure 3) (93).

During the early development of vertebrate embryos, neural crest EMT is regulated by dosedependent actions of bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP), members of the TGF- β superfamily, and a cohort of transcription factors, including paired-box, high-mobility group (HMG), winged-helix transcription factors and Snail (94). Further, mice lacking the TGF- β 3 gene exhibit a cleft palate suggesting that TGF- β 3/LEF1 cascade plays a major role in epithelial cell transformation during palatal EMT (95).

In tumors, TGF- β signaling leads to the activation of EMT through several different mechanisms. A high level of TGF-B1 results in an increased expression of SNAIL through SMAD2, 3 and 4, which enhanced the expression of MMP-9 and MMP-2, followed by an increased invasiveness in OSCC cells (96), (97). Alternatively, TGF-B1 can also regulate the expression of SNAIL independent of SMADs through ERK1/2, which then can activate EMT in HNSCC (80). Further, TGF-β1 also regulates Slug through ERK1/2, which enhances invasion in OSCC cell lines through an increased expression of MMP-9 (98). Moreover, co-stimulation of OSCC cells with TGF-β1/EGF results in EMT phenotype with upregulation of vimentin and down regulation of Ecadherin (99). Hypoxia also plays an important role in inducing EMT. Overexpression of hypoxia/HIF-1a enhances Slug1 expression resulting in decreased Ecadherin and enhanced invasiveness in HNSCC patients (100). Apart from TGF-β ligands, microRNAs play a significant role in regulating cancer metastasis. Overexpression of miR-96-5p leads to increased cell migration and radio/chemo-resistance in HNSCC cells by targeting PTEN and activating the PI3K-AKTsignaling pathway (101).Furthermore, low expression levels of miR-153, a negative regulator of SNAI1 and ZEB2, increases metastasis and poor prognosis in oral cancer patients (102). Also, overexpression of miR-200c and miR-141 significantly increased the E-cadherin expression by targeting ZEB1 and ZEB2 thereby reducing the migration capacity of HNSCC cells (103), (104). The overexpression of Long non-coding RNA (IncRNA) such as EPB41L4A-AS2 showed decreased invasion and migration in OSCC cells (105).

In breast cancer, TGF- β 1 promoted CCR7 expression in cancer cells and CCL21 expression in lymphatic endothelial cells, resulting in chemotactic migration of cancer cells toward lymphatic endothelial cells (106). Further, TGF- β 1 also regulates EMT by regulating several micro RNAs. miR10b overexpression induced by TGF- β 1/twist1 positively regulates breast cancer cell migration and invasion (107). TGF- β signaling mediated expression of Slug binds to the miR-203 promoter and inhibits its expression thereby enhancing the metastatic properties of breast cancer cells (108). In addition, TGF-ß signaling inhibits miR-584 expression and enhances cell migration in breast cancer cells (109). In certain cases, chemotherapy can also enhance CSC like phenotype and invasion. For instance, Paclitaxel treatment activates TGF-ß signaling, which increases cancer stem-like cells that are drugresistant and more invasive (110). Conversely, miRNAs also negatively regulate TGF-ß signaling and inhibit EMT. In the case of breast cancer, miR190 inhibits metastasis by targeting SMAD2 and inhibiting TGF-β signaling (111). Further, miR-200 inhibits EMT and cancer cell migration by directly targeting Ecadherin transcriptional repressors such as ZEB1 and ZEB2 in mammary tumors (112). Additionally, OVOL2 (Ovo-like zinc finger protein) expression inhibits TGF-β signaling at multiple levels: inhibition of Smad4 mRNA expression blocking the binding between Smad4 and target DNA, and interfering with complex formation between SMAD4 and SMAD2/3, thereby inhibiting EMT during mammary tumor metastasis (113).

6.3. Notch Signaling and EMT

The Notch signaling is a highly conserved pathway, which is primarily involved in controlling cell fate decisions, differentiation and proliferation (114), (115). It is mediated by jagged family and delta-like ligands binding to their receptors (NOTCH1-NOTCH4). This binding triggers a series of proteolytic cleavage events by y-secretase that lead to the generation of the active Notch intracellular domain (NICD), which then translocate to the nucleus leading to expression of target genes by associating with other transcriptional activators (Figure 3) (114). There is a surplus of evidence suggesting the involvement of Notch signaling in embryonic development and cancer metastasis. In embryonic development, Notch is involved in endocardial maturation and EMT initiation through Snail for proper cardiac development (116).

In OSCC cell lines, Notch signaling induces EMT by activation of Snail in a hypoxic environment (117). All the members of Notch family such as NOTCH1, 2 and 4 are involved in tumor progression and metastasis except for Notch 3, which induces tumor senescence in HNSCC. Notch1 regulates invasion and metastasis in HNSCC by activating C-MYC, which induces Snail thereby increasing the expression of Vimentin and decreasing E-cadherin expression (118). NOTCH2 expression was higher in LSCC (laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma) cells that undergo lymph node metastasis as compared to node negative LSCC (119). NOTCH4 and HEY1 expression were associated with an EMT phenotype as well as increased invasion and cell migration in HNSCC (120). Further cross-talk between TGF-β and Notch signaling also activates EMT in HNSCC. For instance, TGF- β activates the transcription factor ZEB1 to repress NOTCH3, thereby limiting terminal differentiation and drives NOTCH1-mediated EMT to generate tumor-initiating cells characterized by high CD44 expression in OSCC (121).

In breast cancer, Notch signaling activates EMT through more than one mechanism. NOTCH1 signaling activates SLUG expression that promotes migration, and invasion of breast cancer cells (122). Further, the overexpression of NOTCH1 activates STAT3 that showed induction of CSC like phenotype and EMT in breast cancer cell lines (123). Hypoxia also plays an important role in activating Notch signaling. Hypoxia induced activation of Notch signaling enhances the expression of SNAI1 and lysyl oxidase (LOX), which further activate EMT in breast cancer cell lines (124). Inhibition of NOTCH3 significantly reduced the self-renewal and invasive capacity of TNBC cells and ERa+ cells. Conversely, NOTCH3 suppressed EMT and breast cancer metastasis by activating GATA binding protein 3 (GATA-3) transcription (125). Several miRNAs were reported to have a negative impact on the Notchinduced EMT. miR34a overexpression led to notch-1 inhibition and activation of p53 and caspase3/9 in MCF-7 cells (126). Overexpression of miR-1179 inhibited the expression of NOTCH 1, NOTCH 4 and HES1 that significantly suppressed breast cancer cells proliferation, migration, and invasion (127). Further, miR-200 family miRNAs suppress the Notch signaling by targeting Notch pathway components, such as JAG1 and the mastermind-like Notch coactivators, MAML2 and MAML3 (128). Overexpression of Notch signaling can also be suppressed by the induction of miR-9 and miR-34c

expression, thus reducing metastatic behaviors in TNBC (129).The Mastermind-Like Protein 1 enhanced E-cadherin expression and decreased the rate of cell migration in breast cancer cell lines by inhibiting Notch signaling (130).

7. CURRENT STATUS AND THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL

The success of current anti-cancer therapies is hindered due to therapy resistance. Such acquired resistance is partly driven by a subpopulation of cells residing within the tumor called as cancer stem cells. CSCs are more resistant to drugs and toxins due to the high expression of several ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, increased DNA repair capacity, deregulated signaling, and resistance to apoptosis. Recent studies have shown that the EMT program is a critical regulator of the CSC phenotype. Patients manifesting both the CSC and EMT phenotypes are have low disease free survival (DFS) as they are unresponsive to standard chemotherapies. Signaling networks regulated by microRNAs and EMT-TFs linking the EMT and cancer stemness can serve as possible targets. Currently, many clinical trials are underway that are testing the efficacy of Wnt, Notch and TGF-β inhibitors. Small molecules such as Galunisertib, TEW-7197 and PF-03446962 are inhibitors of TGF-β receptor type 1. ETC-1922159, an inhibitor of the membrane-bound O-acyltransferase (MBOAT) porcupine (PORCN) in the endoplasmic reticulum, results in the inhibition of post-translational palmitoylation of Wnt ligands and their secretion. OMP-54F28, a recombinant fusion protein that binds to Wnt ligands and blocks Wnt signaling. The major treatment modalities in the treatment of HNSCC, include surgery, radiotherapy, neoadjuvant chemotherapy or a combination of two or more of these modalities (131). However, the 5-year survival rate of this disease has not changed evidently from the past few decades (132). Hence, a detailed understanding of the tumor initiation, cancer stem cell regulation and their metastasis is required for better cancer treatment.

The most commonly used chemotherapeutic drugs in HNSCC include platinum-based cytotoxic drugs like cisplatin and carboplatin, which binds to DNA and inhibit DNA replication. Taxanes such as Docetaxel, that inhibits mitotic spindle assembly (133) and methotrexate (134), which inhibits dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) thereby inhibiting DNA and RNA synthesis (135). Further targeted therapies include monoclonal antibodies such as cetuximab, which inhibits binding of EGF to its receptor, by specifically binding to EGFR (136). The major drawback for cetuximab is that the preexisting IgE antibodies against cetuximab cause hypersensitivity in patients. In addition, mAb's (monoclonal antibodies) such as nivolumab and pembrolizumab are involved in inhibition of binding of PD1 to its ligands PDL1 and PDL2, thereby augmenting immune responses by T-cell proliferation and cytokine production (134, 137). However, through all these treatment procedures the overall survival of the patient has not improved significantly. Therefore, new treatment modalities are to be developed to treat HNSCC. The role of signaling pathways in CSCs and their regulation by miRNAs has been well studied in the past decade. Higher expression of miR329, miR410 and miR-16 showed inhibition of Wnt signaling thereby inhibiting proliferation and invasion of OSCC (84). Further, overexpression of miR-200c and miR-141 significantly reduced the migration capacity of HNSCC cells by targeting ZEB1 and ZEB2 activated by TGF-β signaling (103, 104). Hence, developing new treatment modalities using miRNAs for the treatment of HNSCC might give us an edge to treat HNSCC.

Breast cancers are commonly treated with cell cycle inhibitors such as abemaciclib (inhibits cyclin-dependent kinases CDK4 and CDK6), paclitaxel (interferes with microtubular function, chromosomal segregation) and cepecitabine (inhibits the synthesis of thymidine monophosphate required for DNA synthesis). Monoclonal antibodies such as pertuzumab and trastuzumab bind to Her2 and inhibit Her2-Her3 dimerization and block downstream PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. Despite the different treatment modalities, drug resistance is common in all breast cancer types. For instance, mucin 4 and CD44/hyaluronan polymer complex was shown to mask the Her2 epitope, thereby making breast cancer cells resistant to trastuzumab (138). Since triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells do not

express ER α + or PR or show HER2 amplification, there are no targeted therapies for this breast cancer subtype (138). One of the major problems in using taxanes (paclitaxel, doxitaxel) as chemotherapeutic option is the drug efflux. This is mediated by adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding cassette proteins that utilize ATP hydrolysis to efflux a variety of drugs making breast cancer resistant to drugs, irrespective of breast cancer subtypes (139).

Non-coding miRNAs regulate signaling pathways involved in cancer stemness, drug resistance, and EMT. miR-1 and miR-100 down-regulate breast CSC stemness, proliferation and migration by inhibiting the WNT/ β -catenin signaling (90, 91). miR190 and miR-200 inhibits breast cancer metastasis by targeting SMAD2 and ZEB1 and ZEB2 respectively thereby inhibiting TGF- β signaling (111, 112). An overexpression of miR34a, miR-9, miR-34c, and miR-1179 leads to Notch signaling inhibition and suppression of breast cancer cell proliferation, migration and invasion (127), (126), (129). Harnessing these microRNAs to develop treatment modalities would provide better outcomes in treating breast cancer.

8. PERSPECTIVES

Advancements in basic and translational cancer biology have enabled us to understand the mode of actions and the outcomes of cancer therapies. However, we are not yet successful in coming up with fruitful strategies to treat cancer. The conventional therapies targeting the bulk tumor cells do not take into account the impact of tumor heterogeneity, mainly caused by CSCs, on the efficacy of chemotherapeutic drugs. CSCs generated by EMT induction acts as a source for cancer to recur due to their highly drug-resistant nature. Several strategies can be adopted for targeting EMT induced cancer stemness such as, specifically targeting cells that exhibit CSC phenotype and have undergone EMT, reversing the process of EMT by differentiation induced therapies or targeting the signaling processes that induce EMT.

Recent studies have identified CD44, ADLH1, ABCG2 and many others as CSC markers in HNSCC, but a definitive marker is still lacking (140).

There can be differences in stem cell population between different individuals based on co-expression of different markers; hence, patient-specific CSC identification in a specific cancer subtype can help in better disease prognosis and patient outcome. For instance, combination therapies of Cetuximab along with platinum-based drugs yielded positive results, but tumor recurrence occurred in many (141). Hence, a better understanding of tumor heterogeneity and cancer stem-cell subset identification in different patients receiving treatment will help in prognosis and in developing patient-specific therapy based on HNSCC's CSC subset identification. Similarly, in breast cancer, positive ALDH1 staining was found to be a prognostic marker for both TNBC and non-TNBC subtypes. ALDH1 was also observed to be significantly correlated with resistance to chemotherapy in TNBC patients along with cleaved caspase-3 and cyclooxygenase-2 (142). More recently, MALDI-TOF analysis of breast cancer tissues from three different regions in TNBC patients revealed higher expression of nine novel genes significantly correlated with poor recurrence-free survival (RFS) and a higher hazard ratio in TNBC patients as compared to estrogen-receptor-positive tumors. These studies indicate the fact that an intensive search for a better and definite prognostic marker differentiating between cancer subtypes could help us in designing better treatment strategies and targeted therapies.

During the last decade, a significant amount of research is focused on miRNA mediated regulation of EMT-TFs and cancer stemness. miRNA, Let 7c, a known tumor suppressor, whose expression was reduced in OSCC CSCs. Further, Let 7c also increased the anticancer functions of tamoxifen and reduced the number of \CSCs sensitizing cells to therapy-induced repression in an estrogen receptor (ER) dependent manner. Notably, Let 7 decreased the tumor forming ability of estrogentreated breast CSCs in vivo and suppressed Wnt signaling. This further consolidated the previous hypothesis that Let 7 decreases the self-renewal ability, contributing to reduced tumor formation ability of stem cells (143). 5-Aminolevulinic acid-mediated photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT) serves as an adjuvant therapy against HNSSC via eliminating the CSCs property. The anti-CSCs effect of ALA-PDT is

due to an elevation of miR-145 (144). These evidence suggest that miRNAs play a significant role in regulating signaling and EMT- induced stemness in HNSCC and breast cancers. Hence, re-expression of specific miRNAs that are lost in these cells will help in eliminating the stem-like cells that are the "root cause" of tumor development, maintenance, recurrence, and metastasis. Therefore, we propose that the development of inhibitors of EMT or CSCtargeted therapies holds a promising future for cancer treatment.

9. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Manan Y Parmar, Saima Shaikh have contributed equally to this work. SR is supported by UGC, India and RRS is supported by ACTREC and DBT, India for their doctoral fellowships.

10. REFERENCES

- E D Hay: An overview of epitheliomesenchymal transformation. Acta Anat (Basel), 154(1), 8-20 (1995) DOI: 10.1159/000147748 PMid:8714286
- R Kalluri, E G Neilson: Epithelialmesenchymal transition and its implications for fibrosis. J Clin Invest, 112(12), 1776-84 (2003) DOI: 10.1172/JCI200320530 PMid:14679171 PMCid:PMC297008
- E L Whiteman, C J Liu, E R Fearon, B Margolis: The transcription factor snail represses Crumbs3 expression and disrupts apico-basal polarity complexes. Oncogene, 27(27), 3875-9 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/onc.2008.9 PMid:18246119 PMCid:PMC2533733
- R Y Huang, P Guilford, J P Thiery: Early events in cell adhesion and polarity during epithelial- mesenchymal transition. J Cell Sci, 125(Pt 19), 4417-22 (2012)

DOI: 10.1242/jcs.099697 PMid:23165231

- M J Wheelock, Y Shintani, M Maeda, Y Fukumoto, K R Johnson: Cadherin switching. J Cell Sci, 121(Pt 6), 727-35 (2008) DOI: 10.1242/jcs.000455 PMid:18322269
- J P Thiery, J P Sleeman: Complex networks orchestrate epithelialmesenchymal transitions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 7(2), 131-42 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/nrm1835 PMid:16493418
- N V Jordan, G L Johnson, A N Abell: Tracking the intermediate stages of epithelial- mesenchymal transition in epithelial stem cells and cancer. Cell Cycle, 10(17), 2865-73 (2011) DOI: 10.4161/cc.10.17.17188 PMid:21862874 PMCid:PMC3218599
- M Zeisberg, E G Neilson: Biomarkers for epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. J Clin Invest, 119(6), 1429-37 (2009) DOI: 10.1172/JCI36183 PMid:19487819 PMCid:PMC2689132
- R Kalluri, R A Weinberg: The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest, 119(6), 1420-8 (2009) DOI: 10.1172/JCI39104 PMid:19487818 PMCid:PMC2689101
- 10. D F Newgreen, C A Erickson: The migration of neural crest cells. Int Rev Cytol, 103, 89-145 (1986) DOI: 10.1016/S0074-7696(08)60834-7
- 11. D Summerbell, P W Rigby: Transcriptional regulation during somitogenesis. Curr Top Dev Biol, 48, 301-18 (2000)

DOI: 10.1016/S0070-2153(08)60760-7

- C L Chaffer, E W Thompson, E D Williams: Mesenchymal to epithelial transition in development and disease. Cells Tissues Organs, 185(1-3), 7-19 (2007) DOI: 10.1159/000101298 PMid:17587803
- J A Davies: Mesenchyme to epithelium transition during development of the mammalian kidney tubule. Acta Anat (Basel), 156(3), 187-201 (1996) DOI: 10.1159/000147846 PMid:9124036
- 14. L Vicovac, J D Aplin: Epithelialmesenchymal transition during trophoblast differentiation. Acta Anat (Basel), 156(3), 202-16 (1996) DOI: 10.1159/000147847 PMid:9124037
- M Iwano, D Plieth, T M Danoff, C Xue, H Okada, EG. Neilson: Evidence that fibroblasts derive from epithelium during tissue fibrosis. J Clin Invest, 110(3), 341-50 (2002) DOI: 10.1172/JCI0215518 PMid:12163453 PMCid:PMC151091
- A Desmouliere: Factors influencing myofibroblast differentiation during wound healing and fibrosis. Cell Biol Int, 19(5), 471-6 (1995) DOI: 10.1006/cbir.1995.1090 PMid:7640660
- C Yan, W A Grimm, W L Garner, L Qin, T Travis, N Tan, Y P Han: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human skin wound healing is induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha through bone morphogenic protein-2. Am J Pathol, 176(5), 2247-58 (2010)

DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090048 PMid:20304956 PMCid:PMC2861090

- S Lamouille, J Xu, R Derynck: Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 15(3), 178-96 (2014) DOI: 10.1038/nrm3758 PMid:24556840 PMCid:PMC4240281
- H Peinado, D Olmeda, A Cano: Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nat Rev Cancer, 7(6), 415-28 (2007) DOI: 10.1038/nrc2131 PMid:17508028
- 20. J H Taube, J I Herschkowitz, K Komurov, A Y Zhou, S Gupta, J Yang, K Hartwell, T T Onder, P B Gupta, K W Evans, B G Hollier, P T Ram, E S Lander, J M Rosen, R A Weinberg, S A Mani: Core epithelialto-mesenchymal transition interactome gene-expression signature is associated with claudin-low and metaplastic breast cancer subtypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 107(35), 15449-54 (2010) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1004900107 PMid:20713713 PMCid:PMC2932589
- 21. H J Hugo, M I Kokkinos, T Blick, M L Ackland, E W. Thompson, D F Newgreen: Defining the E-cadherin repressor interactome in epithelialmesenchymal transition: the PMC42 model as a case study. Cells Tissues Organs, 193(1-2), 23-40 (2011) DOI: 10.1159/000320174 PMid:21051859
- B De Craene, G Berx: Regulatory networks defining EMT during cancer initiation and progression. Nat Rev Cancer, 13(2), 97-110 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/nrc3447

PMid:23344542

- U Burk, J Schubert, U Wellner, O Schmalhofer, E Vincan, S Spaderna, T Brabletz: A reciprocal repression between ZEB1 and members of the miR-200 family promotes EMT and invasion in cancer cells. EMBO Rep, 9(6), 582-9 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/embor.2008.74 PMid:18483486 PMCid:PMC2396950
- N H Kim, H S Kim, X Y Li, I Lee, H S Choi, S E Kang, S Y Cha, J K Ryu, D Yoon, E R Fearon, R G Rowe, S Lee, C A Maher, S J Weiss, J I Yook: A p53/miRNA-34 axis regulates Snail1-dependent cancer cell epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Cell Biol, 195(3), 417-33 (2011) DOI: 10.1083/jcb.201103097 PMid:22024162 PMCid:PMC3206336
- 25. H Siemens, R Jackstadt, S Hunten, M Kaller, A Menssen, U Gotz, H Hermeking: miR-34 and SNAIL form a doublenegative feedback loop to regulate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. Cell Cycle, 10(24), 4256-71 (2011) DOI: 10.4161/cc.10.24.18552 PMid:22134354
- P A Gregory, A G Bert, E L Paterson, S C Barry, A. Tsykin, G Farshid, M A Vadas, Y Khew- Goodall, G J Goodall: The miR-200 family and miR-205 regulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition by targeting ZEB1 and SIP1. Nat Cell Biol, 10(5), 593-601 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/ncb1722 PMid:18376396
- N Herranz, D Pasini, V M Diaz, C Franci, A Gutierrez, N Dave, M Escriva, I Hernandez-Munoz, L Di Croce, K Helin, A Garcia de Herreros, S Peiro: Polycomb complex 2 is required for E-cadherin

repression by the Snail1 transcription factor. Mol Cell Biol, 28(15), 4772-81 (2008) DOI: 10.1128/MCB.00323-08 PMid:18519590 PMCid:PMC2493371

- H Peinado, E Ballestar, M Esteller, A Cano: Snail mediates E-cadherin repression by the recruitment of the Sin3A/histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1)/HDAC2 complex. Mol Cell Biol, 24(1), 306-19 (2004) DOI: 10.1128/MCB.24.1.306-319.2004 PMid:14673164 PMCid:PMC303344
- T Lin, A Ponn, X Hu, B K Law J Lu: Requirement of the histone demethylase LSD1 in Snai1- mediated transcriptional repression during epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Oncogene, 29(35), 4896- 904 (2010) DOI: 10.1038/onc.2010.234 PMid:20562920 PMCid:PMC3093107
- M A Nieto, A Cano: The epithelialmesenchymal transition under control: global programs to regulate epithelial plasticity. Semin Cancer Biol, 22(5-6), 361-8 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2012.05.003 PMid:22613485
- 31. J P Thiery, H Acloque, R Y Huang, M A Nieto: Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. Cell, 139(5), 871-90 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.007 PMid:19945376
- 32. H Hugo, M L Ackland, T Blick, M G Lawrence, J A Clements, E D Williams, E W Thompson: Epithelial--mesenchymal and mesenchymal--epithelial transitions in carcinoma progression. J Cell Physiol, 213(2), 374-83 (2007) DOI: 10.1002/jcp.21223

PMid:17680632

- M Y Kim, T Oskarsson, S Acharyya, D X Nguyen, X H Zhang, L Norton, J. Massague: Tumor self-seeding by circulating cancer cells. Cell, 139(7), 1315-26 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.025 PMid:20064377 PMCid:PMC2810531
- N Krawczyk, F Meier-Stiegen, M Banys, H Neubauer, E Ruckhaeberle, T Fehm: Expression of stem cell and epithelialmesenchymal transition markers in circulating tumor cells of breast cancer patients. Biomed Res Int, 2014, 415721 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1155/2014/415721
 PMid:24895575 PMCid:PMC4034492
- 35. S Grunert, M Jechlinger, H Beug: Diverse cellular and molecular mechanisms contribute to epithelial plasticity and metastasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 4(8), 657-65 (2003)
 DOI: 10.1038/nrm1175
 PMid:12923528
- 36. M Yu, A Bardia, B S Wittner, S L Stott, M E Smas, D T Ting, S J Isakoff, J C Ciciliano, M N Wells, A M Shah, K F Concannon, M C Donaldson, L V Sequist, E Brachtel, D Sgroi, J Baselga, S Ramaswamy, M Toner, D A Haber, S Maheswaran: Circulating breast tumor cells exhibit dynamic changes in epithelial and mesenchymal composition. Science, 339(6119), 580-4 (2013) DOI: 10.1126/science.1228522 PMid:23372014 PMCid:PMC3760262
- S V Puram, I Tirosh, A S Parikh, A P Patel, K Yizhak, S Gillespie, C Rodman, C L Luo, E A Mroz, K S Emerick, D G Deschler, M A Varvares, R Mylvaganam, O Rozenblatt-Rosen, J W Rocco, W C

Faquin, D T Lin, A Regev, B E Bernstein: Single-Cell Transcriptomic Analysis of Primary and Metastatic Tumor Ecosystems in Head and Neck Cancer. Cell, 171(7), 1611-1624 e24 (2017) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.044 PMid:29198524 PMCid:PMC5878932

- 38. I Pastushenko, A Brisebarre, A Sifrim, M Fioramonti, T Revenco, S Boumahdi, A Van Keymeulen, D Brown, V Moers, S Lemaire, S De Clercq, E Minguijon, C Balsat, Y Sokolow, C Dubois, F De Cock, S Scozzaro, F Sopena, A Lanas, N D'Haene, I Salmon, J C Marine, T Voet, Ρ Sotiropoulou, С Blanpain: А Identification of the tumour transition states occurring during EMT. Nature, 556(7702), 463-468 (2018) DOI: 10.1038/s41586-018-0040-3 PMid:29670281
- M K Jolly, M Boareto, B Huang, D Jia, M Lu, E Ben-Jacob, J N Onuchic and H Levine: Implications of the Hybrid Epithelial/Mesenchymal Phenotype in Metastasis. Front Oncol, 5, 155 (2015)
- 40. D. Nassar, C Blanpain: Cancer Stem Cells: Basic Concepts and Therapeutic Implications. Annu Rev Pathol, 11, 47-76 (2016) DOI: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044438 PMid:27193450
- K Rycaj, D G Tang: Cell-of-Origin of Cancer versus Cancer Stem Cells: Assays and Interpretations. Cancer Res, 75(19), 4003-11 (2015) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0798 PMid:26292361 PMCid:PMC4756645
- 42. C Blanpain, E Fuchs: Stem cell plasticity. Plasticity of epithelial stem cells in tissue regeneration. Science, 344(6189),

1242281 (2014) DOI: 10.1126/science.1242281 PMid:24926024 PMCid:PMC4523269

- 43. T Lapidot, C Sirard, J Vormoor, B Murdoch, T Hoang, J Caceres-Cortes, M Minden, B Paterson, M A Caligiuri, J E Dick: A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature, 367(6464), 645-8 (1994) DOI: 10.1038/367645a0 PMid:7509044
- D Bonnet, J E Dick: Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med, 3(7), 730-7 (1997)
 DOI: 10.1038/nm0797-730
 PMid:9212098
- 45. K Eppert, K Takenaka, E R Lechman, L Waldron, B Nilsson, P van Galen, K H Metzeler, A Poeppl, V Ling, J Beyene, A J Canty, J S Danska, S K Bohlander, C Buske, M D Minden, T R Golub, I Jurisica, B L Ebert, J. E. Dick: Stem cell gene expression programs influence clinical outcome in human leukemia. Nat Med, 17(9), 1086-93 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/nm.2415 PMid:21873988
- M Al-Hajj, M S Wicha, A Benito-Hernandez, S J Morrison, M F Clarke: Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 100(7), 3983-8 (2003) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0530291100 PMid:12629218 PMCid:PMC153034
- C Ginestier, M H Hur, E Charafe-Jauffret, F Monville, J Dutcher, M Brown, J Jacquemier, P Viens, C G Kleer, S Liu, A Schott, D Hayes, D Birnbaum, M S Wicha

and G Dontu: ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. Cell Stem Cell, 1(5), 555-67 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2007.08.014 PMid:18371393 PMCid:PMC2423808

- 48. M E Prince, R Sivanandan, A Kaczorowski, G T Wolf, M J Kaplan, P Dalerba, I L Weissman, M F Clarke, L E Ailles: Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 104(3), 973-8 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0610117104
 PMid:17210912 PMCid:PMC1783424
- 49. C Li, D G Heidt, P Dalerba, C F Burant, L Zhang, V Adsay, M Wicha, M F Clarke, D M Simeone: Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res, 67(3), 1030-7 (2007) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2030 PMid:17283135
- 50. E H Huang, M J Hynes, T Zhang, C Ginestier, G Dontu, H Appelman, J Z Fields, M S Wicha, B M Boman: Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 is a marker for normal and malignant human colonic stem cells (SC) and tracks SC overpopulation during colon tumorigenesis. Cancer Res, 69(8), 3382-9 (2009) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4418 PMid:19336570 PMCid:PMC2789401
- 51. A Eramo, F Lotti, G Sette, E Pilozzi, M Biffoni, A Di Virgilio, C Conticello, L Ruco, C Peschle, R De Maria: Identification and expansion of the tumorigenic lung cancer stem cell population. Cell Death Differ, 15(3), 504-14 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402283 PMid:18049477

- 52. I Kryczek, S Liu, M Roh, L Vatan, W Szeliga, S Wei, M Banerjee, Y Mao, J Kotarski, M S Wicha, R Liu, W Zou: Expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase and CD133 defines ovarian cancer stem cells. Int J Cancer, 130(1), 29-39 (2012) DOI: 10.1002/ijc.25967 PMid:21480217 PMCid:PMC3164893
- 53. P R Tata, H Mou, A Pardo-Saganta, R Zhao, M Prabhu, B M Law, V Vinarsky, J L Cho, S Breton, A Sahay, B D Medoff, J Rajagopal: Dedifferentiation of committed epithelial cells into stem cells *in vivo*. Nature, 503(7475), 218-23 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/nature12777 PMid:24196716 PMCid:PMC4035230
- 54. H Tian, B Biehs, S Warming, K G Leong, L Rangell, O D Klein, F J de Sauvage: A reserve stem cell population in small intestine renders Lgr5-positive cells dispensable. Nature, 478(7368), 255-9 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/nature10408 PMid:21927002 PMCid:PMC4251967
- 55. A Roesch, M Fukunaga-Kalabis, E C Schmidt, S E Zabierowski, P A Brafford, A Vultur, D Basu, P Gimotty, T Vogt, M Herlyn: A temporarily distinct subpopulation of slow-cycling melanoma cells is required for continuous tumor growth. Cell, 141(4), 583-94 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.04.020 PMid:20478252 PMCid:PMC2882693
- 56. M L Suva, E Rheinbay, S M Gillespie, A P Patel, H Wakimoto, S D Rabkin, N Riggi, A S Chi, D P Cahill, B V Nahed, W T Curry, R L Martuza, M N Rivera, N Rossetti, S Kasif, S Beik, S Kadri, I Tirosh, I Wortman, A K Shalek, O Rozenblatt-Rosen, A Regev, D N Louis, B E Bernstein: Reconstructing and

reprogramming the tumor-propagating potential of glioblastoma stem-like cells. Cell, 157(3), 580-94 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.030 PMid:24726434 PMCid:PMC4004670

- 57. N Oshima, Y Yamada, S Nagayama, K Kawada, S Hasegawa, H Okabe, Y Sakai, T Aoi: Induction of cancer stem cell properties in colon cancer cells by defined factors. PLoS One, 9(7), e101735 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101735
 PMid:25006808 PMCid:PMC4090165
- C L Chaffer, N D Marjanovic, T Lee, G Bell, C G Kleer, F Reinhardt, A C D'Alessio, R A Young, R. A. Weinberg: Poised chromatin at the ZEB1 promoter enables breast cancer cell plasticity and enhances tumorigenicity. Cell, 154(1), 61-74 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.005 PMid:23827675 PMCid:PMC4015106
- 59. S A Mani, W Guo, M J Liao, E N Eaton, A Ayyanan, A Y Zhou, M Brooks, F Reinhard, C C. Zhang, M Shipitsin, L LCampbell, K Polyak, C Brisken, J Yang, R A Weinberg: The epithelialmesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. Cell, 133(4), 704-15 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.027 PMid:18485877 PMCid:PMC2728032
- 60. W L Hwang, M H Yang, M L Tsai, H Y Lan, S H Su, S C Chang, H W Teng, S H Yang, Y T Lan, S H Chiou, H W Wang: SNAIL regulates interleukin-8 expression, stem activity, cell-like and tumorigenicity of human colorectal carcinoma cells. Gastroenterology, 141(1), 279-91, 291 e1-5 (2011) DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.04.008

PMid:21640118

- T K Lee, R T Poon, A P Yuen, M T Ling, 61. W K Kwok, X H Wang, Y C Wong, X Y Guan, K Man, K L Chau, S T Fan: Twist overexpression correlates with hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis through induction of epithelialmesenchymal transition. Clin Cancer Res, 12(18), 5369-76 (2006) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2722 PMid:17000670
- A M Haslehurst, M Koti, M Dharsee, P Nuin, K Evans, J Geraci, T Childs, J Chen, J Li, J Weberpals, S Davey, J Squire, P C Park, H Feilotter: EMT transcription factors snail and slug directly contribute to cisplatin resistance in ovarian cancer. BMC Cancer, 12, 91 (2012) DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-91 PMid:22429801 PMCid:PMC3342883
- M K Chung, Y H Jung, J K Lee, S Y Cho, O Murillo-Sauca, R Uppaluri, J H Shin, J B Sunwoo: CD271 Confers an Invasive and Metastatic Phenotype of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma through the Upregulation of Slug. Clin Cancer Res, 24(3), 674-683 (2018) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0866 PMid:29208672 PMCid:PMC6713647
- 64. S Irani, A Dehghan: The Expression and Functional Significance of Vascular Endothelial- Cadherin, CD44, and Vimentin in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Int Soc Prev Community Dent, 8(2), 110- 117 (2018) DOI: 10.4103/jispcd.JISPCD_408_17 PMid:29780735 PMCid:PMC5946518
- 65. S Wang, H Fan, J Xu, E Zhao: Prognostic implication of NOTCH1 in early stage oral squamous cell cancer with occult

metastases. Clin Oral Investig, 22(3), 1131-1138 (2018) DOI: 10.1007/s00784-017-2197-9 PMid:28866747

- 66. A Mishra, H Sriram, P Chandarana, V Tanavde, R V Kumar, A Gopinath, R Govindarajan, S Ramaswamy, S Sadasivam: Decreased expression of cell adhesion genes in cancer stem-like cells isolated from primary oral squamous cell Tumour carcinomas. Biol, 40(5). 1010428318780859 (2018) DOI: 10.1177/1010428318780859 PMid:29888653
- 67. N G Nikitakis, I Gkouveris, J Aseervatham, K Barahona, K U E Ogbureke: DSPP-MMP20 gene silencing downregulates cancer stem cell markers in human oral cancer cells. Cell Mol Biol Lett, 23, 30 (2018) DOI: 10.1186/s11658-018-0096-y PMid:30002682 PMCid:PMC6040065
- T Tamatani, N Takamaru, G Ohe, K Akita, T Nakagawa, Y Miyamoto: Expression of CD44, CD44v9, ABCG2, CD24, Bmi-1 and ALDH1 in stage I and II oral squamous cell carcinoma and their association with clinicopathological factors. Oncol Lett, 16(1), 1133-1140 (2018) DOI: 10.3892/ol.2018.8703 PMid:29963189 PMCid:PMC6019923
- D Kong, S Banerjee, A Ahmad, Y Li, Z Wang, S Sethi, F H Sarkar: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition is mechanistically linked with stem cell signatures in prostate cancer cells. PLoS One, 5(8), e12445 (2010) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012445 PMid:20805998 PMCid:PMC2929211
- 70. Y Shimono, M Zabala, R W Cho, N Lobo,

P Dalerba, D Qian, M Diehn, H Liu, S P Panula, E Chiao, F M Dirbas, G Somlo, R A Pera, K Lao, M F Clarke: Downregulation of miRNA-200c links breast cancer stem cells with normal stem cells. Cell, 138(3), 592-603 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.011 PMid:19665978 PMCid:PMC2731699

- 71. U Wellner, J Schubert, U C Burk, O Schmalhofer, F Zhu, A Sonntag, B Waldvogel, C Vannier, D Darling, A zur Hausen, V G Brunton, J Morton, O Sansom, J Schuler, M P Stemmler, C Herzberger, U Hopt, T Keck, S Brabletz, T Brabletz: The EMT-activator ZEB1 promotes tumorigenicity by repressing stemness-inhibiting microRNAs. Nat Cell Biol, 11(12), 1487-95 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/ncb1998 PMid:19935649
- 72. H Miyazaki, R U Takahashi, M Prieto-Vila, Y Kawamura, S Kondo, T Shirota, T Ochiya: CD44 exerts a functional role during EMT induction in cisplatinresistant head and neck cancer cells. Oncotarget, 9(11), 10029-10041 (2018) DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.24252 PMid:29515788 PMCid:PMC5839369
- 73. Y Komiya, R Habas: Wnt signal transduction pathways. Organogenesis, 4(2), 68-75 (2008)
 DOI: 10.4161/org.4.2.5851
 PMid:19279717 PMCid:PMC2634250
- 74. B T MacDonald, K Tamai, X He: Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell, 17(1), 9-26 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.016 PMid:19619488 PMCid:PMC2861485
- 75. P Liu, M Wakamiya, M J Shea, U Albrecht, R R Behringer, A Bradley:

Requirement for Wnt3 in vertebrate axis formation. Nat Genet, 22(4), 361-5 (1999) DOI: 10.1038/11932 PMid:10431240

- J De Calisto, C Araya, L Marchant, C F Riaz, R Mayor: Essential role of noncanonical Wnt signalling in neural crest migration. Development, 132(11), 2587-97 (2005) DOI: 10.1242/dev.01857 PMid:15857909
- J L Whyte, A A Smith, J A Helms: Wnt signaling and injury repair. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 4(8), a008078 (2012) DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a008078 PMid:22723493 PMCid:PMC3405869
- 78. G Barriere, P Fici, G Gallerani, F Fabbri, M Rigaud: Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition: a double-edged sword. Clin Transl Med, 4, 14 (2015) DOI: 10.1186/s40169-015-0055-4 PMid:25932287 PMCid:PMC4409604
- 79. E M Deraz, Y Kudo, M Yoshida, M Obayashi, T Tsunematsu, H Tani, S B Siriwardena, M R Keikhaee, G Qi, S Iizuka, I Ogawa, G Campisi, L Lo Muzio, Y Abiko, A Kikuchi, T Takata: MMP-10/stromelysin-2 promotes invasion of head and neck cancer. PLoS One, 6(10), e25438 (2011) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025438 PMid:21998657 PMCid:PMC3187776
- A Smith, T N Teknos, Q Pan: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol, 49(4), 287-92 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.-2012.10.009
 PMid:23182398 PMCid:PMC3586749
- 81. S M Diaz Prado, V Medina Villaamil, G

Aparicio Gallego, M Blanco Calvo, J L Lopez Cedrun, S Sironvalle Soliva, M Valladares Ayerbes, R Garcia Campelo, L M Anton Aparicio: Expression of Wnt gene family and frizzled receptors in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. Virchows Arch, 455(1), 67- 75 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s00428-009-0793-z PMid:19543744

- N Katase, M Lefeuvre, M Gunduz, E Gunduz, L B Beder, R Grenman, M Fujii, R Tamamura, H Tsujigiwa, H Nagatsuka: Absence of Dickkopf (Dkk)-3 protein expression is correlated with longer disease-free survival and lower incidence of metastasis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oncol Lett, 3(2), 273-280 (2012) DOI: 10.3892/ol.2011.473 PMid:22740894 PMCid:PMC3362421
- A Kawakita, S Yanamoto, S Yamada, T Naruse, H Takahashi, G Kawasaki, M Umeda: MicroRNA-21 promotes oral cancer invasion via the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway by targeting DKK2. Pathol Oncol Res, 20(2), 253-61 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s12253-013-9689-y PMid:23999978
- 84. S G Shiah, J R Hsiao, W M Chang, Y W Chen, Y T Jin, T Y Wong, J S Huang, S T Tsai, Y M Hsu, S T Chou, Y C Yen, S S Jiang, Y S Shieh, I S Chang, M Hsiao, J Y Chang: Downregulated miR329 and miR410 promote the proliferation and invasion of oral squamous cell carcinoma by targeting Wnt-7b. Cancer Res, 74(24), 7560-72 (2014) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0978 PMid:25351956
- 85. L Liu, H Jiang, J Zhao, H Wen: MiRNA-16 inhibited oral squamous carcinoma tumor growth *in vitro* and *in vivo* via

suppressing Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway. Onco Targets Ther, 11, 5111-5119 (2018) DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S153888 PMid:30197522 PMCid:PMC6112799

- 86. C Kroger, A Afeyan, J Mraz, E N Eaton, F Reinhardt, Y L Khodor, P Thiru, B Bierie, X Ye, C B Burge, R A Weinberg: Acquisition of a hybrid E/M state is essential for tumorigenicity of basal breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 116(15), 7353-7362 (2019) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1812876116 PMid:30910979 PMCid:PMC6462070
- 87. J I Yook, X Y Li, I Ota, C Hu, H S Kim, N H Kim, S Y Cha, J K Ryu, Y J Choi, J Kim, E R Fearon, S J Weiss: A Wnt-Axin2-GSK3beta cascade regulates Snail1 activity in breast cancer cells. Nat Cell Biol, 8(12), 1398-406 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/ncb1508 PMid:17072303
- Y Wu, C Ginther, J Kim, N Mosher, S Chung, D Slamon, J V Vadgama: Expression of Wnt3 activates Wnt/betacatenin pathway and promotes EMT-like phenotype in trastuzumab-resistant HER2- overexpressing breast cancer cells. Mol Cancer Res, 10(12), 1597-606 (2012) DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-12-0155-T PMid:23071104 PMCid:PMC3732195
- 89. J Cai, H Guan, L Fang, Y Yang, X Zhu, J Yuan, J Wu, M Li: MicroRNA-374a activates Wnt/beta-catenin signaling to promote breast cancer metastasis. J Clin Invest, 123(2), 566-79 (2013) DOI: 10.1172/JCI65871 PMCid:PMC3561816
- 90. T Liu, K Hu, Z Zhao, G Chen, X Ou, H Zhang, X Zhang, X Wei, D Wang, M Cui,

C Liu: MicroRNA-1 down-regulates proliferation and migration of breast cancer stem cells by inhibiting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. Oncotarget, 6(39), 41638-49 (2015) DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.5873 PMid:26497855 PMCid:PMC4747178

- Q Jiang, M He, S Guan, M Ma, H Wu, Z Yu, L Jiang, Y Wang, X Zong, F Jin, M Wei: MicroRNA-100 suppresses the migration and invasion of breast cancer cells by targeting FZD-8 and inhibiting Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway. Tumour Biol, 37(4), 5001-11 (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s13277-015-4342-x PMid:26537584
- 92. C Xiao, C H Wu, H Z Hu: LncRNA UCA1 promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) of breast cancer cells via enhancing Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci, 20(13), 2819-24 (2016)
- 93. J Massague, J Seoane, D Wotton: Smad transcription factors. Genes Dev, 19(23), 2783-810 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1101/gad.1350705
 PMid:16322555
- 94. D Meulemans and M Bronner-Fraser: Gene-regulatory interactions in neural crest evolution and development. Dev Cell, 7(3), 291-9 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2004.08.007 PMid:15363405
- 95. A Nawshad, D LaGamba, E D Hay: Transforming growth factor beta (TGFbeta) signalling in palatal growth, apoptosis and epithelial mesenchymal transformation (EMT). Arch Oral Biol, 49(9), 675- 89 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2004.05.007 PMid:15275855

- 96. L Sun, M E Diamond, A J Ottaviano, M J Joseph, V Ananthanarayan, H G Munshi: Transforming growth factor-beta 1 promotes matrix metalloproteinase-9mediated oral cancer invasion through snail expression. Mol Cancer Res, 6(1), 10-20 (2008) DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-07-0208 PMid:18234959
- 97. B Qiao, N W Johnson, J Gao: Epithelialmesenchymal transition in oral squamous cell carcinoma triggered by transforming growth factor-beta1 is Snail family-dependent and correlates with matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 expressions. Int J Oncol, 37(3), 663-8 (2010) DOI: 10.3892/ijo_00000715 PMid:20664935
- 98. M J Joseph, S Dangi-Garimella, M A Shields, M E Diamond, L Sun, J E Koblinski, H G Munshi: Slug is a downstream mediator of transforming growth factor-beta1-induced matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression and invasion of oral cancer cells. J Cell Biochem, 108(3), 726-36 (2009) DOI: 10.1002/jcb.22309 PMid:19681038
- 99. P Richter, C Umbreit, M Franz, A Berndt, S Grimm, A Uecker, F D Bohmer, H Kosmehl, A Berndt: EGF/TGFbeta1 costimulation of oral squamous cell carcinoma cells causes an epithelialmesenchymal transition cell phenotype expressing laminin 332. J Oral Pathol Med, 40(1), 46-54 (2011) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0714.2010.00936.x PMid:20819124
- 100. J Zhang, Q Cheng, Y Zhou, Y Wang, X Chen: Slug is a key mediator of hypoxia induced cadherin switch in HNSCC:

correlations with poor prognosis. Oral Oncol, 49(11), 1043-50 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.-2013.08.003 PMid:24035721

- 101. M Vahabi, C Pulito, A Sacconi, S Donzelli, M D'Andrea, V Manciocco, R Pellini, P Paci, G Sanguineti, L Strigari, G Spriano, P Muti, P P Pandolfi, S Strano, S Safarian, F Ganci, G Blandino: miR-96-5p targets PTEN expression affecting radio-chemosensitivity of HNSCC cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 38(1), 141 (2019) DOI: 10.1186/s13046-019-1119-x PMid:30925916 PMCid:PMC6440033
- 102. Q Xu, Q Sun, J Zhang, J Yu, W Chen, Z Zhang: Downregulation of miR-153 contributes to epithelial-mesenchymal transition and tumor metastasis in human epithelial cancer. Carcinogenesis, 34(3), 539-49 (2013) DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgs374 PMid:23188671
- 103. S Tamagawa, L B Beder, M Hotomi, M Gunduz, K. Yata, R. Grenman, N Yamanaka: Role of miR-200c/miR-141 in the regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and migration in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Mol Med, 33(4), 879-86 (2014) DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2014.1625 PMid:24424572
- 104. Z Zhao, D Gao, T Ma, L Zhang: MicroRNA-141 suppresses growth and metastatic potential of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Aging (Albany NY), 11(3), 921-932 (2019) DOI: 10.18632/aging.101791 PMid:30737360 PMCid:PMC6382419
- 105. T Huang, W Huang, H Lu, B Y Zhang, J Ma, D Zhao, Y J Wang, D H Yu, X He:

Identification and validation a TGF-betaassociated long non-coding RNA of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma by bioinformatics method. J Transl Med, 16(1), 46 (2018) DOI: 10.1186/s12967-018-1418-6 PMid:29490660 PMCid:PMC5831574

- 106. M F Pang, A M Georgoudaki, L Lambut, J Johansson, V Tabor, K Hagikura, Y Jin, M Jansson, J S Alexander, C M Nelson, L Jakobsson, C Betsholtz, M Sund, M C Karlsson, J Fuxe: TGF-beta1- induced EMT promotes targeted migration of breast cancer cells through the lymphatic activation system by the of CCR7/CCL21-mediated chemotaxis. Oncogene, 35(6), 748-60 (2016) DOI: 10.1038/onc.2015.133 PMid:25961925 PMCid:PMC4753256
- 107. L Ma, J Teruya-Feldstein, R A Weinberg: Tumour invasion and metastasis initiated by microRNA-10b in breast cancer. Nature, 449(7163), 682-8 (2007) DOI: 10.1038/nature06174 PMid:17898713
- 108. X Ding, S I Park, L K McCauley, C Y Wang: Signaling between transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) and transcription factor SNAI2 represses expression of microRNA miR-203 to promote epithelial-mesenchymal transition and tumor metastasis. J Biol Chem, 288(15), 10241-53 (2013) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M112.443655 PMid:23447531 PMCid:PMC3624408
- 109. N Fils-Aime, M Dai, J Guo, M El-Mousawi, B Kahramangil, J C Neel, J J Lebrun: MicroRNA- 584 and the protein phosphatase and actin regulator 1 (PHACTR1), a new signaling route through which transforming growth factor-beta Mediates the migration and

actin dynamics of breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem, 288(17), 11807-23 (2013) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M112.430934 PMid:23479725 PMCid:PMC3636869

- 110. N E Bhola, J M Balko, T C Dugger, M G Kuba, V Sanchez, M Sanders, J Stanford, R S Cook, C. L. Arteaga: TGF-beta inhibition enhances chemotherapy action against triple-negative breast cancer. J Clin Invest, 123(3), 1348-58 (2013) DOI: 10.1172/JCI65416 PMid:23391723 PMCid:PMC3582135
- 111. Y Yu, W Luo, Z J Yang, J R Chi, Y R Li, Y Ding, J Ge, X Wang, X C Cao: miR-190 suppresses breast cancer metastasis by regulation of TGF-beta-induced epithelialmesenchymal transition. Mol Cancer, 17(1), 70 (2018) DOI: 10.1186/s12943-018-0818-9 PMid:29510731 PMCid:PMC5838994
- 112. M Korpal, E S Lee, G Hu, Y Kang: The miR-200 family inhibits epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer cell migration by direct targeting of E-cadherin transcriptional repressors ZEB1 and ZEB2. J Biol Chem, 283(22), 14910-4 (2008) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.C800074200 PMid:18411277 PMCid:PMC3258899
- 113. R S Wu, J J Hong, J F Wu, S Yan, D Wu, N Liu, Q F Liu, Q W Wu, Y Y Xie, Y J Liu, Z Z Zheng, E C Chan, Z M Zhang, B A Li: OVOL2 antagonizes TGF-beta signaling to epithelial regulate mesenchymal to transition during mammary tumor metastasis. Oncotarget, 8(24), 39401-39416 (2017) DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.17031 PMid:28455959 PMCid:PMC5503621
- 114. R Kopan: Notch: a membrane-bound transcription factor. J Cell Sci, 115(Pt 6), 1095-7 (2002)

- 115. S J Bray: Notch signalling in context. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 17(11), 722-735 (2016) DOI: 10.1038/nrm.2016.94 PMid:27507209
- 116. L A Timmerman, J Grego-Bessa, A Raya, E Bertran, J M Perez-Pomares, J Diez, S Aranda, S Palomo, F McCormick, J C Izpisua-Belmonte, J L de la Pompa: Notch promotes epithelial- mesenchymal transition during cardiac development and oncogenic transformation. Genes Dev, 18(1), 99-115 (2004) DOI: 10.1101/gad.276304 PMid:14701881 PMCid:PMC314285
- 117. T Ishida, H Hijioka, K Kume, A Miyawaki, N Nakamura: Notch signaling induces EMT in OSCC cell lines in a hypoxic environment. Oncol Lett, 6(5), 1201-1206 (2013) DOI: 10.3892/ol.2013.1549 PMid:24179495 PMCid:PMC3813785
- 118. N Inamura, T Kimura, L Wang, H Yanagi, M Tsuda, M Tanino, H Nishihara, S Fukuda, S. Tanaka: Notch1 regulates invasion and metastasis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma by inducing EMT through c-Myc. Auris Nasus Larynx, 44(4), 447-457 (2017) DOI: 10.1016/j.anl.2016.08.003 PMid:27595504
- 119. Y Zou, F Fang, Y J Ding, M Y Dai, X Yi, C Chen, Z Z Tao, S M Chen: Notch 2 signaling contributes to cell growth, antiapoptosis and metastasis in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Mol Med Rep, 14(4), 3517-24 (2016) DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2016.5688 PMid:27572051 PMCid:PMC5042778
- T Fukusumi, T W Guo, A Sakai, M Ando, S Ren, S Haft, C Liu, P Amornphimoltham, J S Gutkind, J A.

Califano: The NOTCH4-HEY1 Pathway Induces Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res, 24(3), 619-633 (2018) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-1366 PMid:29146722 PMCid:PMC6171749

- 121. M Natsuizaka, K A Whelan, S Kagawa, K Ρ Tanaka, V Giroux, Μ Chandramouleeswaran, A Long, V Sahu, D S Darling, J Que, Y Yang, J P Katz, E P Wileyto, D Basu, Y Kita, S Natsugoe, S Naganuma, A J Klein-Szanto, J A Diehl, A J Bass, K K Wong, A K Rustgi, H Nakagawa: Interplay between Notch1 and Notch3 promotes EMT and tumor initiation in squamous cell carcinoma. Nat Commun, 8(1), 1758 (2017) DOI: 10.1038/s41467-017-01500-9 PMid:29170450 PMCid:PMC5700926
- 122. S Shao, X Zhao, X Zhang, M Luo, X Zuo, S Huang, Y Wang, S Gu, X Zhao: Notch1 signaling regulates the epithelialmesenchymal transition and invasion of breast cancer in a Slug-dependent manner. Mol Cancer, 14, 28 (2015) DOI: 10.1186/s12943-015-0295-3 PMid:25645291 PMCid:PMC4322803
- 123. X Zhang, X Zhao, S Shao, X Zuo, Q Ning, M Luo, S Gu, X Zhao: Notch1 induces epithelial- mesenchymal transition and the cancer stem cell phenotype in breast cancer cells and STAT3 plays a key role. Int J Oncol, 46(3), 1141-8 (2015) DOI: 10.3892/ijo.2014.2809 PMid:25544568
- 124. C Sahlgren, M V Gustafsson, S Jin, L Poellinger, U Lendahl: Notch signaling mediates hypoxia-induced tumor cell migration and invasion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 105(17), 6392-7 (2008)

DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0802047105 PMid:18427106 PMCid:PMC2359811

- 125. H Y Lin, Y K Liang, X W Dou, C F Chen, X L Wei, Zeng, J W Bai, Y X Guo, F F Lin, W H Huang, C W Du, Y C Li, M Chen, G J Zhang: Notch3 inhibits epithelialmesenchymal transition in breast cancer via a novel mechanism, upregulation of GATA-3 expression. Oncogenesis, 7(8), 59 (2018) DOI: 10.1038/s41389-018-0069-z PMid:30100605 PMCid:PMC6087713
- 126. L Lan, Y Wang, Z Pan, B Wang, Z Yue, Z Jiang, L Li, C Wang, H Tang: Rhamnetin induces apoptosis in human breast cancer cells via the miR-34a/Notch-1 signaling pathway. Oncol Lett, 17(1), 676- 682 (2019)
- 127. W J Li, X X Xie, J Bai, C Wang, L Zhao, D. Q. Jiang: Increased expression of miR-1179 inhibits breast cancer cell metastasis by modulating Notch signaling pathway and correlates with favorable prognosis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci, 22(23), 8374-8382 (2018)
- 128. Y Shimono, J Mukohyama, S Nakamura, H Minami: MicroRNA Regulation of Human Breast Cancer Stem Cells. J Clin Med, 5(1) (2015) DOI: 10.3390/jcm5010002 PMid:26712794 PMCid:PMC4730127
- 129. S Mohammadi-Yeganeh, A Mansouri, M Paryan: Targeting of miR9/NOTCH1 interaction reduces metastatic behavior in triple-negative breast cancer. Chem Biol Drug Des, 86(5), 1185-91 (2015) DOI: 10.1111/cbdd.12584 PMid:25963903
- 130. S M Shariat Razavi, M M Forghanifard, D M Kordi-Tamandani, M. R.

Abbaszadegan: MAML1 regulates EMT markers expression through NOTCHindependent pathway in breast cancer cell line MCF7. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 510(3), 376-382 (2019) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.01.101 PMid:30732857

- 131. V Krstevska: Evolution of treatment and high-risk features in resectable locally advanced Head and Neck squamous cell carcinoma with special reference to extracapsular extension of nodal disease. J BUON, 20(4), 943-53 (2015)
- 132. W J Bae, S H Lee, Y S Rho, B S Koo, Y C Lim: Transforming growth factor beta1 enhances stemness of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells through activation of Wnt signaling. Oncol Lett, 12(6), 5315-5320 (2016) DOI: 10.3892/ol.2016.5336 PMid:28105240 PMCid:PMC5228400
- 133. A Rapidis, N Sarlis, J L Lefebvre, M Kies: Docetaxel in the treatment of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Ther Clin Risk Manag, 4(5), 865-86 (2008) DOI: 10.2147/TCRM.S3133 PMid:19209269 PMCid:PMC2621396
- P Specenier, J B Vermorken: Optimizing treatments for recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther, 18(9), 901-915 (2018) DOI: 10.1080/14737140.2018.1493925 PMid:29999437
- 135. R L Woods, R M Fox, M H Tattersall: Methotrexate treatment of squamous-cell head and neck cancers: dose-response evaluation. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed), 282(6264), 600-2 (1981) DOI: 10.1136/bmj.282.6264.600

PMid:6781586 PMCid:PMC1504451

- P Specenier, J B Vermorken: Cetuximab: its unique place in head and neck cancer treatment. Biologics, 7, 77-90 (2013) DOI: 10.2147/BTT.S43628 PMid:23723688 PMCid:PMC3665438
- 137. J Bauml, T Y Seiwert, D G Pfister, F Worden, S V Liu, J Gilbert, N F Saba, J Weiss, L Wirth, A Sukari, H Kang, M K Gibson, E Massarelli, S Powell, A Meister, X Shu, J D Cheng, R Haddad: Pembrolizumab for Platinum- and Cetuximab-Refractory Head and Neck Cancer: Results From a Single- Arm, Phase II Study. J Clin Oncol, 35(14), 1542-1549 (2017) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.1524 PMid:28328302 PMCid:PMC5946724
- H L Martin, L Smith, D C Tomlinson: Multidrug-resistant breast cancer: current perspectives. Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press), 6, 1-13 (2014) DOI: 10.2147/BCTT.S37638 PMid:24648765 PMCid:PMC3929252
- R Clarke, F Leonessa, B Trock: Multidrug resistance/P-glycoprotein and breast cancer: review and meta-analysis. Semin Oncol, 32(6 Suppl 7), S9-15 (2005) DOI: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2005.09.009 PMid:16360717
- 140. A G Major, L P Pitty, C S Farah: Cancer stem cell markers in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Stem Cells Int, 2013, 319489 (2013) DOI: 10.1155/2013/319489 PMid:23533441 PMCid:PMC3603684
- 141. R T Santuray, D E Johnson, J R Grandis: New Therapies in Head and Neck Cancer. Trends Cancer, 4(5), 385-396 (2018)

DOI: 10.1016/j.trecan.2018.03.006 PMid:29709262 PMCid:PMC6226306

- 142. L Zhou, K Li, Y Luo, L Tian, M Wang, C Li, Q Huang: Novel prognostic markers for patients with triple-negative breast cancer. Hum Pathol, 44(10), 2180-7 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2013.03.021 PMid:23845466
- 143. X Sun, C Xu, G Xiao, J Meng, J Wang, S C Tang, S Qin, N Du, G Li, H Ren, D Liu: Breast cancer stem-like cells are sensitized to tamoxifen induction of selfrenewal inhibition with enforced Let- 7c dependent on Wnt blocking. Int J Mol Med, 41(4), 1967-1975 (2018) DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2018.3388 PMid:29336465 PMCid:PMC5810214
- 144. C H Yu, C C Yu: Photodynamic therapy with 5-aminolevulinic acid (ALA) impairs tumor initiating and chemo-resistance property in head and neck cancer-derived cancer stem cells. PLoS One, 9(1), e87129 (2014) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087129 PMid:24475244 PMCid:PMC3901774
- 145. J Veeck, D Niederacher, H An, E Klopocki, F Wiesmann, B Betz, O Galm, O Camara, M Dürst, G Kristiansen, C Huszka, R Knüchel, E Dahl: Aberrant Methylation of the Wnt Antagonist SFRP1 in Breast Cancer Is Associated With Unfavourable Prognosis. Oncogene, 25(24), 3479-88 (2006).
 DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209386 PMid:16449975
- 146. Y Sogabe, H Suzuki, M Toyota, K Ogi, T Imai, M Nojima, Y Sasaki, H Hiratsuka, T Tokino: Epigenetic Inactivation of SFRP Genes in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Int J Oncol, 32(6), 1253-61

(2008) DOI: 10.3892/ijo.32.6.1253 PMid:18497987

- 147. T Fukui, M Kondo, G Ito, O Maeda, N Sato, H Yoshioka, K Yokoi, Y Ueda, K Shimokata, Y Sekido: Transcriptional Silencing of Secreted Frizzled Related Protein 1 (SFRP 1) by Promoter Hypermethylation in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Oncogene, 24(41), 6323-7 (2005) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208777 PMid:16007200
- 148. H Takagi, S Sasaki, H Suzuki, M Toyota, R Maruyama, M Nojima, H Yamamoto, M Omata, T Tokino, K Imai, Y Shinomura: Frequent Epigenetic Inactivation of SFRP Genes in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Gastroenterol, 43(5), 378-89 (2008) DOI: 10.1007/s00535-008-2170-0 PMid:18592156
- 149. R R Sunkara, R M Sarate, P Setia, S Shah, S Gupta, P Chaturvedi, P Gera, S K Waghmare: SFRP1 in Skin Tumor Initiation and Cancer Stem Cell Regulation with Potential Implications in Epithelial Cancers. Stem Cell Reports, 14(2), 271-84 (2020) DOI: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.12.006 PMid:31928951 PMCid:PMC7013199

ATP Abbreviations: ABC: Binding ABCG2: Atp-Binding Cassette Cassette, Sub-Family G Member, ALDH1: Aldehyde BCSC: Dehydrogenase-1, Breast Cancer Stem Cells, BMP: Bone Morphogenic Protein, CDK: Cyclin Dependent Kinase, CSC: Cancer Stem Cells, CTC: Circulating Tumor Cells, CDH1: E-Cadherin, DHFR: Di-Hydrofolate Reductase , DKK3: Dickkopf Protein 3, ECM: Extracellular Matrix, EGF: Epidermal Growth Factor, EMT: Epithelial To Mesenchymal Transition, EMT-TFs: EmtTranscription Factors, FGF: Fibroblast Growth Factor, FZD: Frizzled Receptor, HDAC: Histone Deacetylaces, HGF: Hepatocyte Growth Factor, HMG: High Motility Group, HNSCC: Head & Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma, H3K4: Histine-3 Lysine-4, LGR5: Leucine rich repeat containing G protein-coupled Receptor 5, IncRNA: Long non-coding RNA, MBOAT: Membrane-Bound O-Acyl-Transferase , MET: Mesenchymal To Epithelial Transition, MMP: Matrix Metalloproteinase, miRNA: microRNA, NICD: Notch Intra-Cellular Domain, PRC2: Polycomb Repressive Complex-2, TGF-ß: Transforming Growth Factor-ß, TNBC: Triple Negative Breast Cancer

Key Words: Cancer, Cancer Stem Cells, Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition, Metastasis, Signaling, miRNA, Review

Send correspondence to: Sanjeev K Waghmare, Stem Cell Biology Group, Waghmare Lab, Cancer Research Institute, Advanced Centre for Treatment Research and Education in Cancer (ACTREC), Tata Memorial Centre, Kharghar, Navi Mumbai 410210, Maharashtra, India, Tel: 91-22-2740-5122, Fax: 91-22-2740-5085, E-mail: swaghmare@actrec.gov.in